A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

O1. The trial court erred in failing to produce
any record of the closing arguments in
the first trial, which violated Halverson's
constitutional right to appeal and effective
assistance of counsel on appeal concerning
his two convictions for unlawful possession
of a firearm in the second degree.

02. The trial court erred in allowing prosecutorial
misconduct during closing argument to deprive
Halverson of his constitutional due process
right to a fair trial.

03. The trial court erred by violating Halverson's
and the public's constitutional right to an open
and public trial when it conducted an in- chambers
questioning of a juror during deliberations with-
out first engaging in a Bone -Club analysis.

04. The trial court erred in ordering that Halverson
participate in mental health counseling or
treatment as a condition of community custody.

05. The trial court erred in finding that Halverson
has the current or future ability to pay
legal financial obligations (LFOs).

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

O1. Whether Halverson's constitutional right
to appeal and effective assistance of counsel
concerning his two convictions for unlawful
possession of a firearm in the second degree
following his first trial are violated because of
the lack of any record of the closing arguments
in the first trial? [Assignment of Error No. 1].

02. Whether Halverson was denied his constitutional

due process right to a fair trial where the
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prosecutor committed misconduct by
misrepresenting the nature of reasonable
doubt and thereby impermissibly shifting
the burden of proof to Halverson?
Assignment of Error No. 2].

03. Whether the trial court violated Halverson's

and the public's constitutional right to an open
and public trial when it conducted an in- chambers
questioning of a juror during deliberations with-
out first engaging in a Bone -Club analysis?
Assignment of Error No. 3].

04. Whether the trial court erred in ordering that
Halverson participate in mental health counseling
or treatment as a condition of community
custody? [Assignment of Error No. 4].

05. Whether the trial court, sans an inquiry into
Halverson's individual financial circumstances,
erred in finding that he has the current or future
ability to pay legal financial obligations?
Assignment of Error No. 5].

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

O1. Procedural Facts

Danial R. Halverson (Halverson) was charged by

second amended information filed in Mason County Superior Court on

June 13, 2011, with attempted murder in the first degree while armed with

a firearm, count I, assault in the first degree while armed with a firearm,

count 11, and two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm in the second

degree, counts III -IV, contrary to RCWs 9A.32.030(1)(a), 9A.28.020,

9A.36.011, 9.94A.533 and9.41.040(2). [CP 190 -92].
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On July 29, a jury found Halverson guilty of the two possession of

firearm charges but deadlocked on the counts of attempted murder and

assault. [CP 109, 111 -13]. Following an order of mistrial [CP 107],

Halverson was charged by third amended information on August 2 with

the latter two offenses [CP 95 -96], for which he was found guilty by jury

verdicts the following October 7. [CP 33 -36].

No motions were argued regarding either a CrR 3.5 or CrR 3.6

hearing in either trial, the Honorable Amber L. Finlay presiding in each

instance. [CP 202; RP 02/24/1124-25; RP 08/15/11 1 -4]. Nor were

objections or exceptions taken to the jury instructions in either proceeding.

CP 22; RP 10/04/11918].

The court merged the assault and attempted murder convictions,

Halverson was sentenced within his standard range and timely notice of

this appeal followed. [CP 5 -20].

02. First Trial: Substantive Facts

On Tuesday, September 14, 2010, sometime

between 6:30 and 7:00 in the morning, police responded to a reported

shooting in Belfair, Washington. [RP 07/22/11 587 -88, 618; RP 07/26/11

664 -65]. The victim was Michael Okoniewski, who was suffering from

life - threatening bullet wounds. [RP 07/20/11 189, 194, 196].
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At trial, Okoniewski testified that Halverson, whom he had known

for 10 -15 years, came to his house just after 6:00 that morning with an

offer to buy his motorcycle. [RP 07/20/11218, 221, 223]. "I told him that

I wanted to think about it and we would get back together and I would

make a decision." [RP 07/20/11222]. Halverson then asked if he could

get "another electrical box ... of a kind that I had given him before to

work on his home." [RP 07/20/11222]. As Okoniewski "stepped down

off (his) porch [RP 07/20/11224]" and started walking toward his tool

shed to get the box, he realized he'd been shot and turned to see Halverson

with "a gun in his hand." [RP 07/20/11226]. "I got up and went around

the back corner of my tool shed to try to get out into the woods and put

some distance between us." [RP 07/20/11226-27]. He ran to his

neighbor's house, which was "maybe a hundred yards" away, and related

what had happened. [RP 07/20/11228, 395, 438 -39, 477].

Within a couple of hours, Halverson was arrested in the driveway

at his nearby residence. [RP 07/22/11 556 -57]. He admitted to driving to

Okoniewski's that morning to make an offer to purchase his motorcycle

but denied any involvement in the shooting. [State's Exhibit 155 4, 6].

He also mentioned that he had passed Okoniewski's neighbor, Bobbie

Paquette, on the road. [State's Exhibit 155 5]. Two .357 Magnum shell
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casings [RP 07/22/11623-25] and "two brass casings" were found during

a search of Halverson's property. [RP 07/26/11707].

Four days later, a bullet hole and fragments were located on the

side of Okoniewski's woodshed [RP 07/26/11 592, 608, 627 -28], and the

State presented testimony that the hole was made by "(a) .355 diameter .38

caliber bullet." [RP 07/22/11 574].

On September 25, Ricky Ting, who owns property adjoining

Halverson's, contacted the police. [RP 07/22/11377]. In the bushes next

to his driveway, Ting had found a bag with a shoulder holster plopped

next to it. [RP 07/21/11 346 -48, 351, 367 -68, 381; RP 07/22/11632].

The bag contained a canister and a loaded .357 Ruger revolver. [RP

07/22/11638]. The items were discovered near a machete, which Ting

said Halverson had thrown into the bushes the previous Labor Day

weekend (September 4 -6). [RP 07/21/11353-55]. The parties stipulated

that no latent impressions of value for identification purposes were

developed following an analysis of the canister, the Ruger revolver or the

357 caliber cartridges. [CP 171; RP 07/22/11 615]. The parties also

stipulated that on September 17, 1999, Halverson's wife had purchased the

357 Ruger revolver [CP 170; RP 07/22/11614-15; RP 07/26/11706],

which was found operational and capable of firing either a.357 or .38

caliber bullet. [RP 07/22/11 574]. There was no evidence that the shell
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casings found at Halverson's had been recently fired or were ever fired

from the Ruger revolver. [RP 07/26/11 669 -70].

Two days prior to the shooting, Halverson had told Paquette,

don't ever ask him ( Okoniewski) for anything; he's a piece of crap." [RP

07/21/11444]. Paquette considered this "normal" bickering between the

two. [RP 07/20/11448]. She, like Halverson, remembered passing one

another on the road around 6:30 the morning of the shooting. [RP

07/21/11432-35, 447 -48].

The previous August 31, Halverson had given John Allen Sr. an

operational 12 -gauge shotgun [RP 07/22/11495-96, 504 -05, 509, 640; RP

07/26/11761], and the parties stipulated that Halverson had been

convicted of a felony prior to this. [CP 169; RP 07/26/1178 1 ].

At trial, Halverson reiterated what he had earlier told the police,

proclaiming that he did not shoot Okoniewski, that he passed Paquette on

the road, and that he returned home around 6:45 to make breakfast for his

wife. [RP 07/26/11 783, 785, 790, 809]. He further explained that several

months before the shooting incident, he had given his wife's .357 Ruger

revolver to Ting to keep because of his concern for his wife's mental

health issues. [RP 07/26/11767-69, 781, 819]. Regarding the machete,

he claimed:
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I stopped — some guys were stealing a tractor — pieces off a
tractor down below, and I had stopped them. And they had
left this (machete) here, and I took it up and asked him
Ting) if he wanted it, and he said no, so I just stuck it in
the, in the brush by his fence.

RP 07/26/11 772].

Marty Hayes, Halverson's ballistics expert [RP 07/26/11 833],

while admitting he "didn't reconstruct a shooting incident here [RP

07/27/11905](,)" concluded that

the ballistics evidence, both what was seen at the scene at
sic) then also the wounding patterns on Mr. Okoniewski's
body are not consistent with the story he told me when I
visited the scene.

RP 07/26/11 835 -36].

Following the conclusion of the testimony, the "(r)emainder of the

proceedings were not recorded due to a malfunction with the recording

system." [RP 07/27/11933]. Thereafter, the parties entered into an

AGREED REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS [RP 10/24/111047-49],

wherein it was determined that the missing portions of the record included

the admission of defense exhibits, jury instructions, closing arguments,

jury deliberations and verdicts. [CP 21]. In this regard, the parties further

agreed to the following:

The parties agree that the Court properly admitted defense
exhibits before the defense rested its case; the proposed
jury instructions are properly filed in the court file and the
instructions given by the Court are also properly filed
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within the Court file, there were no exceptions to the
Court's instructions; closing argument can not be re-
created, the defense cannot stipulate that there was no error
by either defense attorney or prosecutor; jury deliberations
were proper for the first trial, any questions sent to the
Court by the jury are properly filed in the Court file; and
the verdicts were properly recorded with (sic) Court after
appropriate inquiry as to the possibility of reaching a
verdict in accordance with the WPIC or instruction on

being unable to reach a verdict. The clerks (sic) minutes
accurately reflect the missing proceedings.

CP 22].

03. Second Trial: Substantive Facts

Unsurprisingly, the second trial mirrored much of

the first trial. Okoniewski again testified that Halverson came to his house

somewhere between 6:00 -6:30 the morning of September 14, 2010, with

an offer to buy his motorcycle. [RP 09/27/11 95 -96, 127]. When he went

to his tool shed to retrieve the electrical box Halverson requested, he

realized he'd been shot in the shoulder and started to scramble around the

corner of his carport before eventually running to his neighbor's house,

where he related what had happened. [RP 09/27/11 98 -104, 106 - 07,126,

208 -09, 263]. As a result of the shooting, he suffered life - threatening

bullet wounds and spent a week in the hospital. [RP 09/27/11 108, 162-

67].

Following Halverson's arrest, he readily told the police he had

driven to Okoniewski's that morning to make an offer to purchase his
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motorcycle but denied any involvement in the shooting. [RP 09/28/11

292, 347 -48; State's Exhibit 144 4, 6]. He again acknowledged passing

Okoniewski's neighbor, Paquette, on the road. [State's Exhibit 144 5]. A

search of Halverson's property that morning produced "two shell casings -

empty, spent shell casings for a .38 caliber handgun, and two shell

casings - - brass shell casings for a.357." [RP 09/28/11294]. The brass

shell casings were found at a burn pit on the property. [RP 09/28/11295;

RP 09/28/11 334 -35]. It could not be determined how old the casings

were. [RP 09/28/11414-15].

The following Saturday, September 18, a bullet hole and a bullet

fragment were found on a trim board on Okoniewski's tool shed, in

addition to a dowel found on the ground that appeared to have a bullet

hole through it. [RP 09/28/11301-02, 311, 413; RP 09/29/11 537].

The next Saturday, September 25, the police were contacted by

Halverson's neighbor, Ricky Ting, who turned over the shoulder holster

and bag containing a canister, a gun cleaning kit and a loaded .357 Ruger

revolver, which Ting had discovered near a machete, which he said

Halverson had thrown into the bushes the previous Labor Day weekend

September 4 -6). [RP 09/28/11315-25, 337 -38; RP 09/28/11432-33,

445]. None of the bullets in the cylinder of the fully loaded Ruger were

spent. [RP 09/29/11 577]. As in the first trial, the parties stipulated that
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on September 17, 1999, Halverson's wife had purchased the .357 Ruger

revolver. [CP 170; RP 09/28/11 326]. No latent impressions of value for

identification purposes were developed following an analysis of the

canister, the Ruger revolver or the .357 caliber cartridges. [RP 09/28/11

401 -03]. Unlike the first trial, evidence was presented that the shell

casings at Halverson's were fired from the Ruger revolver. [RP 09/28/11

412].

Paquette related Halverson's bickering comments regarding

Okoniewski being a piece of crap, which were made the Sunday before the

shooting on Tuesday [RP 09/27/11266], in addition to explaining she had

passed Halverson around 6:30 on the road that morning: "The car was just

sitting there. I don't know if it was moving, I don't know if he was

coming down the road." [RP 09/27/11279].

At the second trial, Halverson again repeated what he had earlier

told the police following his arrest and again proclaimed that he did not

shoot Okoniewski, that he was at Okoniewski's for only a couple of

minutes, that he drove past Paquette on his way home after briefly

checking on an unrelated matter and that he returned home to make

breakfast for his wife. [RP 09/29/11 594 -95, 604, 609, 649]. When the

police asked about his wife's Ruger revolver, he told them he'd given it to

Ting along with the canister and cleaning kit around the first of July
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because of his concern about his wife harming herself following her third

nervous breakdown. [RP 09/29/11 608, 615, 620]. Ting declined his offer

of the machete.

He said no, and so I stuck it in - - I said well I don't need

one either. I've got two of them. He had a couple. So I
just stuck it in the bushes there by fence post three.

RP 09/29/11 617].

Sandra Halverson, the defendant's wife, confirmed her chronic

illness and ownership of the items her husband told her he had given to

Ting the July before the incident. [RP 09/29/11666-67, 670; RP 09/30/11

689 -92, 733].

Marty Hayes offered the same expert opinion he had in the initial

trial:

The opinion I basically came up with is that the story that
Mr. Okoniewski had told Detective Morini to begin with,
and then told me later at the scene, doesn't ... is quite
inconsistent with the evidence that I saw as a - - as a

ballistics expert.

RP 09/30/11 773].

Ostensibly, based on where Okoniewski placed himself and

Halverson during the relevant events and in consideration of the

corresponding angles derived from these various configurations, Hayes

opined that the incident could not have occurred as depicted by

Okoniewski. [RP 09/30/11 789 -793, 801 -03, 826].
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T)hese wounds are inconsistent with the story that he
told about shot from the back and having the different - -
you know, having the different angle of wound. I don't
know how these occurred.

RP 09/30/11 803].

Hayes went on to say he didn't "believe that the wounds that Mr.

Okoniewski suffered were made by a.357 Magnum semi jacketed

projectile [RP 09/30/11 805](,)" as was found in Mrs. Halverson'sRuger

revolver, because the wounds suffered by Okoniewski were insufficiently

dramatic. [RP 09/30/11 806 -08].

D. ARGUMENT

O1. HALVERSON' S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT

TO APPEAL AND EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE

OF COUNSEL ON APPEAL CONCERNING

HIS TWO CONVICTIONS FOR UNLAWFUL

POSSESSION OF A FIREARM IN THE

SECOND DEGREE FOLLOWING HIS FIRST

TRIAL ARE VIOLATED BECAUSE OF THE

LACK OF ANY RECORD OF THE CLOSING

ARGUMENTS IN THE FIRST TRIAL.

As previously noted, following the conclusion of

testimony in the first trial, it was discovered that the remaining portions of

the trial were not recorded due to a defect in the recording equipment.

RP 07/27/11 933]. In response, almost three months later, the parties

entered into an AGREED REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS, wherein, in

part, it was agreed that the record of the closing argument "can not be re-
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created" and "the defense cannot stipulate that there was no error by either

defense attorney or prosecutor...." [CP 22].

A criminal defendant is constitutionally entitled to a "r̀ecord of

sufficient completeness "' to permit effective appellate review of his or her

claims. State v. Thomas 70 Wn. App. 296, 298, 852 P.2d 1130 (1993)

quoting Coppedge v. United States 369 U.S. 438, 446, 82 S. Ct. 917, 8 L.

Ed 2d (1962). Sufficient completeness, however, does not necessarily

equate with a complete verbatim transcript. State v. Tilton 149 Wn.2d

775, 781, 72 P.3d 735 (2003). The normal remedy in such a situation is to

supplement the record with appropriate affidavits and have the judge who

heard the case resolve any discrepancies. Id . at 783. However, if

affidavits are unable to produce a record that satisfactorily recounts the

events material to the issues on appeal, a new trial must be ordered. Id .

In State v. Larson 62 Wn.2d 64, 381 P.2d 120 (1963), the

Washington Supreme Court held that the lack of a sufficient reconstructed

record constituted a denial of due process and reversed the defendant's

convictions and ordered a new trial. The defense attorney in Larson who

had not been the attorney at trial, was unable to test the "sufficiency of

completeness" of the trial court's narrative of facts and thus unable to

satisfactorily determine what errors to assign for review. Id . at 67. See

also State v. Tilton 149 Wn. 2d at 783 (reversal and remand for new trial

13-



required where complete record of missing portion essential to

establishing claim of ineffective assistance, in the face of significant

evidence that defenses were viable but had not been presented).

Similar to Larson and Tilton Halverson's trial counsel is not

representing him on appeal, and, in any event, the parties agreed that the

closing argument "can not be re- created.... [CP 22](,)" thus leaving no

avenue to cure the defect in the record. Unlike both cases, the missing

closing argument in this case is beyond recreation of any sort. There is

nothing. Like Larson Halverson is clearly prejudiced by this, for it

concerns the entire presentation of closing argument by defense and the

State, including rebuttal. As argued herein (see following argument, infra

at 15 -19), prosecutorial misconduct occurred during closing argument in

the second trial in a manner or template that could be relevant to the two

convictions in the first trial, particularly given that defense counsel at the

first trial could not stipulate that there was no error by either himself or the

prosecutor during closing argument. [CP 22]. And while the record for

the second trial does suggest this possibility, it is simply impossible to

identify what errors to assign on appeal relative to closing argument in the

first trial because it cannot be reproduced in any form, with the result that

a new trial must be ordered for Halverson's two convictions for unlawful

possession of a firearm in the second degree.
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02. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED

MISCONDUCT BY MISREPRESENTING

THE NATURE OF REASONABLE DOUBT

AND THEREBY IMPERMISSIBLY SHIFTING

THE BURDEN OF PROOF TO HALVERSON.

A criminal defendant's right to a fair trial is denied

where there is an unsuccessful objection to the prosecutor's improper

comments and there is a substantial likelihood the comments affected the

jury's verdict. State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984).

The defense bears the burden of establishing both the impropriety and the

prejudicial effect. State v. Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577

1991). Where a defendant fails to object to improper comments at trial,

or fails to request a curative instruction, or to move for a mistrial, reversal

is not always required unless the prosecutorial misconduct was so flagrant

and ill intentioned that a curative instruction could not have obviated the

resultant prejudice. State v. Ziegler 114 Wn.2d 533, 540, 789 P.2d 79

1990). "The State's burden to prove harmless error is heavier the more

egregious the conduct is." State v. Rivers 96 Wn. App. 672, 676, 981

P.2d 16 (1999).

A prosecutor's obligation is to see that a defendant receives a fair

trial and, in the interest ofjustice, must act impartially, seeking a verdict

free of prejudice and based on reason. State v. Belgarde 110 Wn.2d 504,

516, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). The hallmark of due process analysis is the

fairness of the trial, i.e., did the misconduct prejudice the jury and thus

deny the defendant a fair trial guaranteed by the due process clause?

Smith v. Phillips 455 U.S. 209, 210, 102 S. Ct. 940, 71 L. Ed. 2d 78
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1982). In this context, the definitive inquiry is not whether the error was

harmless or not harmless but rather did the irregularity violate the

defendant's due process rights to a fair trial. State v. Davenport 100

Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). If this court is unable to say from

its reading of the record whether the defendant would or would not have

been convicted but for the impropriety, then it may not deem it harmless.

State v. Charlton 90 Wn.2d 657, 664, 585 P.2d 142 (1978).

Although a prosecutor has wide latitude in closing argument to

draw reasonable inferences from the evidence and to express such

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