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

State's Response Brief (Amended) Case No. 42761-3-II

Halverson stepped off the porch, as if to leave, but then stopped, turned, and asked Okoniewski for an electrical box. RP-I 222; RP-II 98. Okoniewski uses electrical boxes in his trade, and in the past he had provided other electrical boxes to Halverson. RP-I 251-252, 757; RP-II 98-99. Okoniewski stepped off the porch and began walking to his tool shed to retrieve an electrical box, and as he walked he heard a gunshot and realized that he'd been shot in the shoulder. RP-I 224, 227; RP-II 99.

Okoniewski began scrambling to get away, and as he scrambled for safety, he heard four or five more gunshots. RP-I 225; RP-II 100. One of the additional shots hit Okoniewski in the groin and hip. RP-I 227; RP-II 101-103, 108. He fell and looked up, and he saw Halverson standing over him, looking at him, and holding a gun. RP-I 226; RP-II 101.

On September 25, on a neighboring property near where Halverson shot Okoniewski, police recovered a Ruger .357 handgun that had been abandoned in the bushes. RP-I 347-348, 351, 632-639; RP-II 315-325, 431-434. The handgun was purchased by Halverson's wife in 1999. RP-I 615; RP-II 326. Halverson admitted having at one time possessed the .357 handgun and said that he had recently given it to the neighbor. RP-I 767-769, 819.

State's Response Brief (Amended) Case No. 42761-3-II

The pistol that police recovered was first discovered abandoned in the bushes by the owner of the property where it was found. RP-I 347-348. On a past occasion, on or about August 31, 2010, Halverson was at that neighbor's property, and while there Halverson put a shotgun on the hood of his truck and then confronted the neighbor about the neighbor having previously accused Halverson of stealing from him. RP-I 357-358, 362, 363, 385. After hearing the neighbor's explanation, Halverson ejected two shells from the shotgun and commented something to the effect of, "one for you, one for me." RP-I 358.

About two weeks prior to this incident, Halverson was out shooting a shotgun, maybe the same shotgun, with a friend of his. RP-I 495. This was a Mossberg Model 500-A security pump shotgun. RP-I 496. A week or two later, which was near in time to when he confronted his neighbor and put a shotgun on the hood of his truck, Halverson gave the Mossberg Model 500-A to his friend's father. RP-I 496, 504-505, 640, 761-762, 807-808.

Prior to 2010, Halverson was convicted of a felony, and he was, therefore, ineligible to legally possess a firearm. RP-I 614, 781, 805.

Initially, the State charged Halverson with assault in the first degree. CP 223-224. On September 22, 2010, Halverson appeared in the

State's Response Brief (Amended)	Mason County Prosecutor
Case No. 42761-3-II	PO Box 639
	Shelton, WA 98584
	360-427-9670 ext. 417

Mason County Superior Court to address the charge. RP-I 1. At this hearing, Halverson's attorney and the prosecutor presented an order to the court to have Halverson evaluated for competency by a mental health professional at Western State Hospital. RP-I 2-5.

On October 18, 2010, Western State Hospital completed its evaluation, and Halverson was seen again in court on the following day, October 19, 2010. RP-I 8; CP 211-220. The mental health evaluation reported that Halverson "lacked the capacity to understand the nature of the proceedings against him and to assist in his own defense" and recommended that Halverson be admitted to the hospital for up to 90 days for competency restoration treatment. CP 217-218. The licensed psychologist at Western State Hospital who evaluated Halverson and drafted the report found that "major mental illness" presented a risk factor that placed Halverson at extreme risk of future dangerousness and criminal acts that would jeopardize public safety. CP 219.

The court found that Halverson was incompetent to stand trial, and it ordered that Halverson be admitted to Western State Hospital for competency restoration treatment. RP-I 9. On January 13, 2011, Western State Hospital issued a report stating that Halverson's competency had been restored through successful treatment. CP 206-210. On January 14,

State's Response Brief (Amended) Case No. 42761-3-II

2011, Halverson was back in court. RP-I 11-16. The court found Halverson competent, lifted the stay that previously entered, arraigned Halverson on the pending charge (prior to subsequent amendments), and set a trial date. RP-I 11-16.

Prior to trial, on June 13, 2011, the State filed an amended information and charged Halverson with attempted first degree murder (with a firearm enhancement), assault in the first degree (with a firearm enhancement), and two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree. CP 190-192. The jury trial then commenced on July 19, 2011. RP-I 78, 107.

The jury returned guilty verdicts for both counts of unlawful possession of a firearm, but were unable to reach unanimous verdicts in regard to the other counts. CP 108-113. The court, therefore, declared a mistrial on the remaining counts. CP 107.

Due to a malfunction of the audio recording equipment, a portion of this trial (the first trial) was not audio recorded, but the parties were unaware of it at the time because the equipment appeared to be functioning appropriately. RP-I 933; RP-II 1047; CP 21. The parts of the trial that were not recorded included the admission of defense exhibits, the reading of jury instructions, closing arguments, and the reading of the

State's Response Brief (Amended)	Mason County Prosecutor
Case No. 42761-3-II	PO Box 639
	Shelton, WA 98584
	360-427-9670 ext. 417

verdicts. CP 21. The parties entered an "Agreed Report of Proceedings" to substitute for the lost record, but the agreed report stated that "the defense cannot stipulate that there was no error by either defense attorney or prosecutor" and that "closing argument can not be re-created." CP 21-22.

The two charges for which the first jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict (assault in the first degree and attempted first degree murder -- each with firearm enhancements) went to trial on September 23, 2011. RP-II 13. In closing argument, Halvorson (through his attorney), argued that "[t]here's no doubt Mr. Okoniewski was shot" but that Halverson did not commit the crime. RP-II 953.

In rebuttal closing argument, the State responded as follows:

Like Mr. Sergi just told you, the issue here is not necessarily pre-meditation and the intent and everything like that. That's basically all within the scenario. The issue is -- is that Danial Halverson did not shoot him, that somebody else shot him. So you have an eyewitness, the person who got shot. And you have all the other evidence to show that Danial Halverson was the person who shot him. So to acquit Danial Halverson then, you have to have a reasonable doubt that Mr. Halverson was the person who shot Okoniewski. And I challenge you -- I challenge you to find a reason for that doubt....

RP-II 1016-1017.

After closing arguments were completed, the jury was excused

from the courtroom to begin its deliberations. RP-II 1019. Three days

State's Response Brief (Amended)	Mason County Prosecutor
Case No. 42761-3-II	PO Box 639
	Shelton, WA 98584
	360-427-9670 ext. 417

later, while the jury was still in deliberations, the court went on the record in the absence of the jury to state for the record that on the previous evening, after the jury had been released for the evening, the bailiff reported to the court that one of the jurors had looked up three words in a dictionary. RP-II 1021.

The court stated for the record that, in response to this information, the court had the juror remain after the others were excused for the evening, and that the court then had the juror, a deputy prosecutor, and the defense attorney brought into chambers. RP-II 1021-1022. In open court and for the record, the court described what had occurred in chambers:

The juror was asked whether or not he disclosed that to the other jurors. His response was no. He was asked whether or not -- as a yes or no question -- whether or not it influenced his deliberations. His response was no.

RP-II 1022. The attorneys asked that the juror be interviewed again so

that the interview could be on the record. RP-II 1023-1024.

The juror was brought into the courtroom, with Halverson present.

RP-II 1024-1026. The trial judge carefully instructed the juror, as follows:

I want first of all to caution you. That you are in the deliberation process, and so my questions are not meant to be asking for you to provide us with long explanations. I have on question that will ask you that is not a yes or no question. The rest will be yes or no questions. And if I feel that you're providing us too much information, I may cut you off. It's not -- I'm not trying to be rude

State's Response Brief (Amended)	Mason County Prosecutor
Case No. 42761-3-II	PO Box 639
	Shelton, WA 98584
	360-427-9670 ext. 417

to you sir, but it's just important that we protect the actual -- the integrity of the deliberation process. Do you understand that?

RP-II 1026. The trial judge then went through a short series of short questions and answers with the juror, from which the court determined that the juror had, in fact, looked up the words "intent" and "reasonable doubt" on an internet dictionary, but that he had not shared the definitions with any other juror. RP-II 1026-1027. The juror was excused from the trial, and an alternate juror was substituted. RP-II 1035-1036.

With the seating of the alternate juror, deliberations began anew. RP-II 1036. The jury found Halverson guilty of both counts (attempted murder in the first degree and assault in the first degree), and it found the firearm enhancement in regard to each count. RP-II 1037-1038.

Sentencing on all four convictions (the two from the first trial and the two from the second trial) was joined into one hearing and one judgment and sentence on all counts. RP-II 1050; CP 7-20. In addition to a prison sentence of 305 months, the court ordered Halverson to pay costs of \$46,424.83. CP 9-12. Page three of the judgment and sentence states that:

The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change. (RCW 10.01.160). The court makes the following specific findings:

State's Response Brief (Amended)	Mason County Prosecutor
Case No. 42761-3-11	PO Box 639
	Shelton, WA 98584
	360-427-9670 ext. 417
2	

[x] The defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed herein.

CP 9. No other citation to the record was located where either party or the court discussed Halverson's ability to pay the imposed costs.

Before the court adjourned the sentencing hearing, the State asked the court to impose mental health counseling as a part of the sentence. RP-II 1062. The court asked Halverson's attorney whether he objected, to which he answered, "[n]o, your Honor." RP-II 1062. Attached to the judgment and sentence is an addendum captioned "Conditions of Community Custody." CP 16-18. These conditions are incorporated into the judgment and sentence by paragraph 4.2 of the judgment and sentence. CP 10-11. One of the conditions is that "[t]he defendant shall participate in mental health counseling or treatment at the direction of the CCO." CP 18. No other discussion of, or reference to, mental health treatment was located in the record of the sentencing hearing.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. Although the audio recording of the closing arguments of Halverson's first trial was not preserved due to malfunctioning equipment, Halverson has not shown that the missing record entitles him to a new trial.

State's Response Brief (Amended)	Mason County Prosecutor
Case No. 42761-3-II	PO Box 639
	Shelton, WA 98584
	360-427-9670 ext. 417
10	

Criminal defendants are entitled to a record of proceedings that is sufficient to allow the appellate court to review defendant's claims on appeal. *State v. Tilton*, 149 Wn.2d 775, 781, 72 P.3d 735 (2003). An appellant is not, however, necessarily entitled to a verbatim transcript. *Id.* Where the record has been lost or destroyed, a reconstructed record will suffice. *Id.* at 782.

In the instant case, Halverson bears the burden of reconstructing the record and providing a record sufficient to allow review. *Tilton* at 782; RAP 9.3. One method of providing a record is to provide an "agreed report of proceedings." RAP 9.4. Ordinarily, where a record is lost or destroyed the appellant should seek to supplement the record with affidavits from third parties, such as attorneys, witnesses, jurors, court personnel, or anyone else who was present during the trial. *State v. Larson*, 62 Wn.2d 64, 68, 381 P.2d 120 (1963) (Hill, J., concurring). If the affidavits are insufficient to enable review, the court must order a new trial. *Tilton* at 783. But, if the appellant has failed to obtain affidavits to reconstruct the record, appellant waives the right to a complete record. *State v. Miller*, 40 Wn. App. 483, 488, 698 P.2d 1123 (1985).

When reviewing whether the record is sufficient to allow review, the reviewing court considers the following factors:

State's Response Brief (Amended) Case No. 42761-3-II

- (1) whether all or only part of the trial record is missing or reconstructed[;]
- (2) the importance of the missing portion to review the issues raised on appeal[;]
- (3) the adequacy of the reconstructed record to permit appellate review[;] and[,]
- (4) the degree of resultant prejudice from the missing or reconstructed record, if any, to the defendant.

State v. Classen, 143 Wn. App. 45, 57, 176 P.3d 582 (2008).

In the instant case, only a part of the record is missing, and the only missing part that Halverson takes issue with is the closing arguments of the first trial. Halverson does not raise any specific error in regard to the missing record of closing arguments at the first trial. Instead, he asserts that there was error during closing arguments of the second trial and that, because he makes this assertion of error arising out of closing arguments at the second trial, this assertion of error supports his proposition that there was probably error during closing arguments of the first trial. Appellant's Brief at 14. But Halverson does not identify or specify any error from the closing arguments of the first trial; so, it cannot be concluded that the missing record is important to any issue raised on appeal.

"The absence of a portion of the record is not reversible error unless the defendant can demonstrate prejudice." *State v. Burton*, 165 Wn.

State's Response Brief (Amended)	Mason County Prosecutor		
Case No. 42761-3-II	PO Box 639		
	Shelton, WA 98584		
	360-427-9670 ext. 417		

App. 866, 883, 269 P.3d 337, *review denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1002, 278 P.3d 1111 (2012). "Where the nature of the error is one that 'trial counsel probably would have remembered,' such as prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument..., even the entire loss of the pertinent record may not prevent effective review." *Burton* at 883-884, quoting *State v. Putman*, 65 Wn. App. 606, 611, 829 P.2d 787, *review denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1015, 863 P.2d 73 (1993).

Additionally, Halverson cannot show prejudice because in the first trial the only convictions that the jury returned were for two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm, and there was ample, overwhelming evidence to support these convictions at trial, including Halverson's trial testimony. RP-I 226, 357-358, 362, 363, 385, 495, 496, 504-505, 614, 640, 761-762, 767-769, 781, 805, 807-808, 819; CP 107, 108-113.

2. Because the State's comment that there was no reason to doubt that anyone other than Halverson shot the victim in this case was in direct response to Halverson's argument that someone else did the shooting, and because the jury instructions and the prosecutor's argument in the whole were correct, error did not occur.

To prevail.on a claim that the prosecutor committed prosecutorial misconduct, Halverson must show both that misconduct occurred and that

State's Response Brief (Amended)	Mason County Prosecutor
Case No. 42761-3-II	PO Box 639
	Shelton, WA 98584
	360-427-9670 ext. 417

the misconduct resulted in prejudice to him. *State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006). To establish the second prong, that there was prejudice, Halverson "must demonstrate that there is a *substantial likelihood* [emphasis added]the misconduct affected the jury's verdict." *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1007, 118 S.Ct. 1192, 140 L.Ed.2d 322 (1998); see also, *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). Because it is Halverson's burden to show that the alleged misconduct was both improper and prejudicial, the harmless error standard does not apply, and the State is not required to prove that the error, if it was error, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756-757, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

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